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Sunnycroft: A Scituate Summer Estate

Lyle Nyberg

Abstract: Sunnycroft in coastal Scituate, MA was the sum-
mer estate of a prominent Boston family. Its history illus-
trates how wealthy Bostonians created country estates to 
escape the city’s summer heat in the late 1800s and early 
1900s. It is significant as the creation of a woman, Lucy 
(Peirce) Nichols, in a period when most of these estates were 
built by men. It is also significant that she created the es-
tate by transforming a historic house rather than building 
a new estate, as most others did. Through four generations, 
Sunnycroft housed leaders of the Silas Peirce & Co. grocery 
store in Boston (not to be confused with S.S. Pierce & Co.), 
as well as a top executive of Rockland Trust. The Silas Peirce 
firm in its time was America’s oldest grocery business. The 
Peirce family, with roots in colonial America, contributed 
greatly to the business, cultural, educational, and social lives 
of Boston and Scituate. Sunnycroft remains a good example 
of an early twentieth-century summer estate of wealthy 
Bostonians.

Figure 1: Sunnycroft, Egypt, Scituate, MA, 
private mailing card, dated and postmarked 1905. 

Courtesy of George B. White.
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This is a tale of two country estates for a prominent Boston 
family. Generations of the Peirce family had their ancestral home, 
Meadow Crest, in Scituate. In the late 1800s, the family branched out 
when Lucy (Peirce) Nichols transformed a nearby old house into a fine 
country estate, Sunnycroft. That estate is the focus of this article. For 
a woman to implement her vision while preserving a historic house 
was uncommon. Sunnycroft became home to four generations of Peirce 
descendants until 1990, and it remains in existence today.

As shown in more detail below, Sunnycroft’s history illustrates 
how Americans escaped the summer heat of the city in the late 1800s 
and early 1900s, and how wealthy families established country estates. 
Coastal Scituate, about thirty miles southeast of Boston, became an 
attractive destination, easily accessible after the railroad arrived in 
1871.1

Sunnycroft is significant because it was created by a woman, 
Lucy (Peirce) Nichols (1853–1910), at a time when American country 
estates were mostly created by wealthy men. In addition, she created 
it by transforming a historic house rather than building new, as others 
did.2

Lucy’s father, Silas Peirce II (1826–1898), was a member of 
the well-known Peirce family. The family’s Boston firm—Silas Peirce 
& Co. (not to be confused with S.S. Pierce)—was, in its time, America’s 
oldest grocery business, lasting 111 years.

Lucy’s father acquired the property that became Sunnycroft in 
the late 1800s. The property included a residence previously owned by 
members of the Litchfield family that dated to about 1800. After her 
father died in 1898, Lucy had the residence moved and renovated, im-
proved the property, and turned it into a fine summer estate. Its name 
was likely bestowed by Lucy. It was home to her and other Peirce fam-
ily members including several leaders of the Peirce firm, as well as a 
top executive of Rockland Trust. Rockland Trust, established in 1907, 
is a leading commercial bank in the greater Boston area. Sunnycroft 
remained in the family for nearly a century, passed down through four 
generations. It still stands today, at 108 Captain Peirce Road, a road 
named for a family ancestor from the 1600s who is discussed later in 
this article.
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Below is a history of Sunnycroft and the families who lived 
there. It starts with the Litchfields, then turns to the Peirces. The lat-
ter has roots deep in American history, and it had an ancestral home, 
later called Meadow Crest, near Sunnycroft. From the Peirce family 
and Meadow Crest springs the story of Sunnycroft. Both homes were 
in a part of Scituate known as Egypt. The discussion below ends with a 
note containing a partial genealogy of the Peirce family.

Figure 2: J. E. Judson 1903 map, plate 31 detail with Meadow Crest, Sunny-
croft, and Egypt Station. Courtesy of Massachusetts State Library.

Litchfields

The residence later known as Sunnycroft was built in the 
Georgian style in about 1800. Stephen Litchfield (1771–1843) owned it, 
according to Samuel Deane’s 1831 history of Scituate. The Litchfields 
were prominent and numerous in Scituate. Stephen Litchfield was 
married to Rebecca Cudworth. In 1837, he conveyed his property, 
including the residence, to five of his sons. A deed from 1838 locates 
the residence north of a road that could only be Charles Street (now 
Captain Peirce Road), which runs generally east to west.3
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The 1838 deed conveyed the interests of three of the sons to 
two other sons, Turner Litchfield (1811–1899) and Warren Litchfield 
(1813–1908). For consideration of $3,240, Turner and Warren received 
title to about 112 acres of fields and pasture and “with the Buildings 
thereon, the lot on which the Buildings stand in which our Father 
Stephen Litchfield now lives containing forty nine acres,” along with 
other parcels.4

Turner and Warren shared their property in common, allow-
ing each to access all its parts, including the residence. In 1844, about 
when their father died, they formally divided the property, with a line 
through the center of the residence. They specifically partitioned the 
kitchen, too. Warren owned the cupboard in the northwest corner of 
the kitchen. Their division deed reads in part:

Of the buildings said Turner Litchfield is to have the 
west half of the house, running through the centre, 
excepting so much of the kitchen chamber as is now 
partitioned off, and reserving to said Warren to pass 
into the garret from his kitchen chamber as the stairs 
now stand. Said Turner to own, and have the kitch-
en below as now partitioned off, with a right to pass 
from his part through said Warren’s kitchen etc. to the 
well room and out both doors north and south, and to 
his wood house through said Warren’s. Said Turner 
to have the westerly half of the porch below, and the 
north half of the well room. Also, all the Chambers 
easterly of the east portion of the well room, also about 
twelve feet of the wood house the easterly half, and ly-
ing under the shop. Also the west half of the Chaise or 
Carriage house, said Turner to pass into the Cellar at 
the east end of the house from the yard, said Turner to 
have all necessary privileges in front of the wood and 
Chaise house, and in rear westerly to his land. It is 
agreed that the Corn house, hog house, and well room 
in front of barn shall stand where they now do so long 
as owned & improved together. The Cupboard at the N. 
West corner of the kitchen chamber is to belong to said 
Warren, said Turner not land wood in front of the wood 
house [sic]. Said Warren Litchfield to own, and have, 
all the house and buildings not heretofore set to said 
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Turner Litchfield including forty feet of the east end of 
the barn and it is agreed that so much of the same as 
stands upon said Turner’s land shall remain so long as 
it stands. Said Warren to have a privilege of passing 
to his garden by the east end of the Chaise house, and 
to the necessary, which it is agreed they shall improve 
together. Said Warren to pass through the west porch 
which belongs to said Turner. The front door, entry, 
& stairs to be improved by both as they now are. Said 
Turner to pass from the well room up stairs to his shop 
and Chambers.5

We do not know why they divided the property. Perhaps it was because 
they had two growing families in the same house, which could have 
covered 3,000 square feet. Turner, born in 1811, had six people in his 
household in 1840 and 1850. Warren, born in 1813, saw his household 
grow from two in 1840 to nine in 1850. That made fifteen people in the 
same house.6 An 1879 map lists “W & T. Litchfield” at about this loca-
tion. It was the only house on the north side of Charles Street, west of 
the Egypt railroad station. Railroad service arrived in 1871.7

Peirces

Next, we turn to the Peirce family. Their ancient homestead 
was just a short walk down the road from the Litchfield house. The 
Peirce family’s history in America goes back to the 1640s. Captain 
Michael Peirce became a resident of Scituate, and he was killed in King 
Philip’s War in 1676. His descendant, Hayward Peirce, Esq. (1753–
1826), evidently had a home on the east side of Country Way (original-
ly called Main Street). He and his family lived there until about 1810. 
Then they moved across Country Way to a large house on the west side 
of the road. That house came to be called Meadow Crest, and it still 
stands today at 545 Country Way. After Hayward Peirce died, his son 
Elijah Peirce (1789–1848) acquired the property, which included some 
seventy-seven acres.8

The place in Scituate was already called “Egypt” in Samuel 
Deane’s 1831 history of Scituate. It was a Peirce, probably Hayward, 
who gave it the name, according to an 1874 newspaper account. He was 
a local merchant whose store sold rum, among other things. Residents 
came by his store during a shortage of corn in other parts of town, and 
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he facetiously asked them, “Well, boys, are you going down into Egypt 
to buy corn?” (This echoed the biblical story in Genesis 41 when Egypt 
stockpiled grain before a widespread famine.) That is how Egypt got its 
name. Interestingly, this name arose in other towns, some after corn 
crop failures in the “year without a summer” in 1816.9

While Elijah Peirce inherited the Country Way property, his 
younger brother Silas Peirce (1793–1879) had long before left his 
Scituate birthplace to make his mark in Boston, where he founded the 
Silas Peirce grocery business in 1815. Here we must explain the differ-
ent Silas Peirces. Elijah had a son, also called Silas. This Silas, whom 
we call Silas Peirce II (1826–1898), was born in Scituate like his name-
sake uncle. He was occasionally called “Jr.” even though he was not 
his uncle’s son. Throughout this paper, numerals are added to reduce 
confusion. Silas Peirce II later owned the family’s Country Way home-
stead that came to be called Meadow Crest. It was the childhood home 
of his children, Lucy, Silas III, and Susan.10

Meadow Crest was built before 1851, according to an estimate 
by its renovator. Hayward Peirce’s family moved there from across the 
road about 1810.11 Meadow Crest may even date to colonial times, as 
suggested in this 1899 Boston Globe article after the death of Silas 
Peirce II:

Mr Silas Peirce [III] and family have taken possession 
of a house in North Scituate that was built by an ances-
tor before the revolution. The house has been remod-
eled and improved recently, and is a fine specimen of 
old colonial architecture. Capt Michael Peirce received 
a grant of the land in 1647, and Capt Hayward Peirce, 
a revolutionary soldier, lived in the house which now 
is the home of the ninth generation bearing the Peirce 
name.12

The article is flawed, however, because it conflates Meadow 
Crest with the family’s previous house on the other side of Country 
Way. Only four later Peirce generations lived in Meadow Crest. 
However, it is likely that Meadow Crest and the previous house (and 
even nearby Sunnycroft) were built on the same parcel of land that 
Captain Peirce owned, thus making nine family generations on the 
same land. Historian Harvey Pratt wrote in 1929:
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[Peirce] had erected his home on the Egypt farm pur-
chased from the Conihasset partners. Nine generations 
of his descendants have dwelt upon and tilled these 
same acres, Silas, the third of that name, occupying it 
at this writing. There is an element of devotion in this, 
frequently found in Pilgrim and Puritan families, but 
seldom in so marked a degree as the Peirce family. It 
began with Benjamin Peirce, son of Michael, who by 
the will of his father, made just before the latter start-
ed for Rhode Island in Phillip’s [Philip’s] War where he 
was soon to meet his death, came into possession of the 
homestead.13

Meadow Crest had significant renovations in 1883/1884, when 
the house’s $2,500 value doubled, and again in 1885/1886, when its 
value increased from $5,000 to $7,000. In 1884/1885, the country es-
tate added an observatory (probably used as a water tower). The ob-
servatory was gone by 1891. The estate took on a prosperous Victorian 
appearance, captured in an 1884 painting by noted painter Frank 
Henry Shapleigh. The estate was then owned by Elijah Peirce’s son, 
Silas Peirce II.14

As noted above, Elijah’s brother, the original Silas Peirce, had 
gone to Boston. He founded the grocery firm Silas Peirce & Co. in 1815. 
He thus carried on his father’s retail trade at Egypt in rum, corn, and 
other food items. Silas’s business was an early grocery firm, primarily 
wholesale with some retail, offering sugar, molasses, tea, coffee, orang-
es, figs, raisins, soap, cigars, and perhaps rum, among other items. The 
company prospered, and by 1890, when it celebrated its seventy-fifth 
anniversary, the Boston Globe reported that it was the oldest whole-
sale grocery firm in the country. The Peirce firm later had a grocery 
store chain, opening stores in the early 1900s in Portsmouth (NH), 
Fitchburg, Plymouth, New Bedford, Framingham, and Brockton.15

Silas Peirce II, nephew of the original Silas Peirce, entered 
the family grocery business and later led the firm, from 1857 until his 
death in 1898. He spent summers at the family homestead on Country 
Way, along with his wife, Almira, and their children, Lucy (named for 
Silas’s mother), Silas III, and Susan. He was a prominent Methodist, 
and this prominence continued in his family, as noted below.16
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In 1868, Edward H. Nichols (1843–1913) began working at the 
Silas Peirce firm. He was the son of a retail grocer in Lowell. In 1874, 
he married the boss’s daughter Lucy. In 1876, Nichols became one of 
the members (partners) of the firm, along with Silas Peirce II and two 
others. He was always pleasant and courteous, according to the biogra-
phy of the company written by another partner of the firm.17

After his wife, Almira Hall Peirce, died, Silas Peirce II contrib-
uted money to build the Peirce Memorial Library on Country Way in 
North Scituate as a memorial to her. The library was not far from his 
estate. Opening ceremonies for the library in 1894 included remarks 
by Silas Peirce II and his son-in-law, Rev. Dillon Bronson. The library 
continued until 1978, when the building became a private residence.18

Silas Peirce II began acquiring property in Scituate, includ-
ing on Second Cliff in 1878. In the 1890s, he acquired much or all of 
the Turner and Warren Litchfield property on Charles Street (now 
Captain Peirce Road) close to Meadow Crest. Three deeds were in-
volved. An 1892 deed, accompanied by a plan, included fourteen acres 
and what had been Turner’s half of the residence. An 1895 deed ac-
quired Warren’s half of the residence, along with several other parcels 
north and south of Charles Street, all for $4,000. An 1897 deed shows 
acquisition of a small lot southwest of the residence along the north 
side of Charles Street. With these purchases, Silas Peirce II appears 
to have bought back land that once belonged to his ancestor, either 
Michael or Hayward Peirce. The land included the Litchfield house, 
valued at $2,000, with its barn ($580) and corn house ($30), along with 
the land. This was to become Sunnycroft.19

Lucy’s Sunnycroft

Sunnycroft, along with Meadow Crest, soon became a home for 
family members in the summer. The families spent the rest of the year 
in greater Boston. In 1898, Lucy and Edward Nichols were living at 
The Westgate on Commonwealth Avenue in Boston, along with Lucy’s 
father, Silas Peirce II, who died later that year. Lucy’s brother, Silas 
Peirce III, and his wife lived on Vernon Street in Brookline. In 1900, 
Lucy and Edward Nichols lived in Brookline with their daughter Myra 
H. Nichols, age twenty-three. Myra graduated from Radcliffe College
in 1899, a member of Phi Beta Kappa.20
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After Silas Peirce II died, the family estate on Country Way 
went to his son, Silas Peirce III (1860–1922), who led the Silas Peirce 
firm until his death. Like his father, throughout his life, Silas Peirce 
III maintained a strong connection with the Methodist church. He was 
a trustee and the treasurer of Boston University, which has Methodist 
origins. He was a prominent Methodist layman. His wife, Annie 
Kendig, was the daughter of a well-known Methodist minister. His sis-
ter Susan married a Methodist minister, Rev. Dillon Bronson.21

Sisters Lucy Nichols and Susan Bronson were also active in 
church-related activities, following the example of their mother, Almira. 
As members of the Boston Young Women’s Christian Association, they 
made a large donation of $10,000 for a new building in Boston. They 
also donated money for an American Methodist school building in 
Darjeeling, India, built in 1902. It was named the Almira Hall Peirce 
Memorial after their mother. The school, formerly named the Queen’s 
Hill School, still exists as the Mount Hermon School, although evi-
dently without the Peirce Memorial building.22

With their father’s death, Lucy and her siblings acquired what 
became Sunnycroft. In 1901, Silas Peirce III and his sister Susan 
transferred to sister Lucy the ownership of the property on Charles 
Street. Lucy must have been the one who named the place. She evi-
dently commissioned private mailing cards (postcards) from as early as 
1905 on which Sunnycroft is named and pictured. Sunnycroft appears 
on a 1903 map, labeled as the home of “Mrs. E. H. Nichols,” Lucy’s 
married name. The map also shows the house where Lucy grew up, 
Meadow Crest, just west of Sunnycroft. That was the summer estate of 
her brother Silas Peirce III. At the time, Lucy’s place was still the only 
house on the north side of Charles Street west of the Egypt railroad 
station.23

The railroad station was close to Sunnycroft and Meadow 
Crest. Leaders of the family firm could easily commute to their busi-
ness operations in Boston during the summer. Given the railroad ac-
cess and the family grocery business, the two estates must have been 
well-provisioned for their summers, which lasted up to five months.24

Lucy created the estate by making significant improvements to 
the Litchfield house, parts of which had burned about 1900. Its central 
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chimney was removed, along with its old wings. Its old interior fea-
tures remained. The house was moved down Charles Street to a knoll 
and set on a higher foundation. A water tower with observation deck 
was added.25

The 1903 map shows some of the changes compared with prior 
maps and plans. The Litchfield house was now southeast of its location 
on the 1879 map. The main block of the house was re-oriented to be in 
line with the street, not angled as on the 1892 plan. The barn near the 
street was moved behind the house and another structure (the water 
tower) was added in back. The rectangular block in the back part of 
the original house was replaced with a lengthy wing on the east side 
of the house.26

Figure 3: Litchfield dwelling on 1892 Bailey plan (detail), at angle to street.
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Figure 4: Sunnycroft on J. E. Judson 1903 map, plate 12 (detail). X indicates 
barn, stable, or icehouse. Courtesy of Massachusetts State Library.

Lucy’s improvements appear in photos and postcards from the 
early 1900s. They reveal an imposing residence with two and a half 
stories. The east wing had a gambrel roof and two dormer windows in 
the front facing the street. A semicircular driveway was added in front. 
In back, a circular driveway was added, its center filled with blooming 
plants. The water tower was clad in what appeared to be shingles. The 
tower had about three stories, with a pinched waist and an open obser-
vation porch under its pointy top. It had exterior steps on the second 
story of its east side. On the back of the house, under its roof, were 
verandas with balustrades on both first and second stories. The first 
story veranda wrapped around to the west side of the house, where it 
became part of a partial octagonal turret attached to the house. The 
turret’s second story was enclosed. The photos and postcards show an 
open landscape that may have allowed views of the ocean about a mile 
away.27
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Figure 5: “A Summer Home, Egypt, Mass.” commercial postcard from early 
1900s showing Sunnycroft with its water tower. Author’s collection.

These improvements were reflected in the tax valuation of 
Sunnycroft. The residence’s value jumped from $2,000 in 1899 to $6,000 
in 1900. It also included a stable valued at a hefty $1,000 and a water 
tower valued at $700 by 1901. These are perhaps the three structures 
shown on the 1903 map. The property included more than eighteen 
acres. In 1906, the structures had these same valuations. That placed 
the residence in the town’s top ten most highly valued residences.28

Of course, Lucy’s brother, Silas III, got the family’s Meadow 
Crest estate, with a value even higher than Sunnycroft. In 1900, the 
Meadow Crest residence alone was valued at $9,000, along with two 
stables ($3,265), a bowling alley ($2,500), seven hen houses ($250), and 
many other properties, including at least eighty-four acres of land.29

Soon after Lucy’s improvements, legendary Boston stock pro-
moter and businessman Thomas Lawson built his Dreamwold estate 
almost next door to Sunnycroft. There was no way to match his huge 
estate. His residence alone was valued at $30,000 in 1906, and his 
water tower was valued at $10,000. His total estate of nearly 400 acres 
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was valued at $381,000. Lucy’s, as valuable as it was, was overshad-
owed by the two higher-valued estates, Lawson’s and her brother’s.30

Sunnycroft’s Place Among Country Estates in Eastern Massa-
chusetts at the Turn of the Century

The late 1800s and early 1900s were peak years for the cre-
ation of grand country estates in eastern Massachusetts, fueled by the 
accumulation of family wealth during the Industrial Age. The Gilded 
Age mansions of Newport and the Berkshires gave way to the country 
estates of the Country Place Era. A good example is Essex County, 
a coastal county in northeastern Massachusetts that became a lead-
ing place for imposing mansions. Most were used as summer retreats. 
Most were created by men. Most were built new, with architect-driven 
structures adopting English styles, such as Elizabethan, Georgian, or 
Tudor. For such an estate, it was uncommon to find a woman as owner 
or creator, and rare to find a historic structure as a basis for the estate. 
In Pamela W. Fox’s comprehensive survey of fifty-nine Essex mansions 
during this period, only five were owned or created by a woman, and 
only two used or repurposed a historic house.31

Women may have played important roles in creating these 
country estates, but the prevailing sentiment appears to have rele-
gated them to designing and decorating the interiors. A 1903 book on 
stately homes mentioned an estate (probably not Sunnycroft), saying:

It is significant that what is probably the most beauti-
ful residence on a generous “palatial” scale as yet com-
posed in this country has been planned by a person who 
was not professional and who was doing it for personal 
comfort and amusement. That person, it so happens, is 
a woman; and we imagine that in the near future the 
process of individualizing the interiors of the greater 
houses will be chiefly the work of women.32

Lucy’s Sunnycroft bucked the trend of men building new coun-
try estates, and so did several other estates in Scituate. The 1903 map 
gives us a window into Scituate’s summer estates. It maps many resi-
dences and gives the names of their owners. It includes a handful of 
estates with names, in large capital letters. Those and several others 
with large tax valuations were:
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• Ellsberg, W. B. Ellis (Walter B. Ellis)
• Highland Farm, Everett Torrey
• Meadow Crest, Silas Peirce
• Sunnycroft, Mrs. E. H. Nichols
• Dreamwold Hall, Thomas W. Lawson
• Bulrush Farm, Wendell F. Brown (but his wife,

Harriet L. Brown, was the actual owner)
• Estate on Hatherly Road, not named, Mrs. J. C.

Howard
• Estate on Border Street, not named, Eliz. E. Parker
• Estate on Mann Hill, not named, Elizabeth C. Hood
• Estate on Mann Hill, not named, Mary B. Stone

We don’t know why Sunnycroft was the only named estate that 
listed a woman as owner. Nonetheless, at least five of these ten estates 
were created by and/or for women, a large proportion for that peri-
od. In addition, the first four of these ten, including Sunnycroft, were 
transformations of existing houses. (Elizabeth Parker owned a historic 
house that she evidently renovated, but her main project was building 
a new estate across the street.) Thus, Sunnycroft was the only estate 
here—and a rare example in Massachusetts during this period, given 
the Essex County example—that was created by a woman who trans-
formed an existing historic house. Lucy’s decision to use the house 
showed a respect for the town’s history and her family’s own historical 
connections with the town.33

Myra’s Sunnycroft

In 1904, Lucy and Edward’s daughter, Myra Nichols (1877–
1952), married Frank O. (Owen) White (c.1876–1936), a lawyer. He 
had graduated from Harvard in 1899, the same year Myra graduated 
from Radcliffe, near Harvard in Cambridge. In 1910, the couple lived 
in Brookline with Edward and their sons, Edward P. [Peirce] (five 
years old) and Frank O. Jr. (six months old). Lucy died that year with-
out a will, as did Edward sometime later. Sunnycroft passed through 
probate to Myra, their only child.34 Myra and her family entertained 
guests at the estate. At one point, it was noted for raising muskmelons. 
In addition, Myra planted most of the trees on the site that still exist.35

In 1916, the Scituate Historical Society was established. 
Myra’s uncle, Silas Peirce III, was the first president of the society from 
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1916 to 1922. Scituate was having a growing regard for its history.36

In 1917, the town renamed many streets to honor its early settlers. 
The road in front of Sunnycroft, Charles Street, was renamed Captain 
Peirce Road. Myra, at Sunnycroft, and her uncle Silas Peirce III, at 
nearby Meadow Crest, must have been pleased. The Street Naming 
Committee reported:

Charles Street, which runs easterly from Main Street 
past Egypt Station, was originally a part of the farm 
of Capt. Michael Peirce, whose lineal descendants in 
nine generations have owned and occupied the fam-
ily acres. Michael Peirce himself was a great Indian 
fighter, brave to recklessness, and gave up his life in 
the war against King Philip. No better tribute to his 
memory can be offered than to give to this street the 
name of Captain Peirce Road.37

In addition, in 1917, Myra’s husband was on a committee with 
local dignitaries to honor the first anniversary of the Scituate Historical 
Society. The Boston Globe featured a cartoon of the occasion, depicting 
him, along with Silas Peirce III and others.38

When Silas Peirce III died in 1922, it marked the end of 107 
years with a Peirce at the head of the Silas Peirce firm. Myra’s hus-
band took over as president. Then, in 1926, the firm merged with Rival 
Foods, Inc., and White was named chairman. Rival Foods continued 
into the 1960s.39 Before its merger with Rival Foods, the Silas Peirce 
firm had set the record for longevity in the American wholesale grocery 
business at 111 years (1815–1926).

The firm’s record was later broken by S.S. Pierce & Co. (note 
the difference in spelling). S.S. Pierce was founded by Samuel Stillman 
Pierce, who was not related to Silas Peirce. S.S. Pierce also began in 
Boston, but not until 1831. It built a brand that eventually obliter-
ated that of the Silas Peirce firm. People still fondly remember S.S. 
Pierce for delivering groceries to homes (usually once a week) and for 
its gourmet foods, wines, and liquors. It lasted until it was sold in 1967 
(Laird & Co.), 1973 (Seneca Foods, which adopted the S.S. Pierce name 
until 1986), and 1982 (Kraft, which bought the S.S. Pierce food service 
business, which perhaps later became a part of Alliant and then US 
Foods).40
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After leading the Silas Peirce firm, White had a troubled life. 
He suffered from depression, receiving treatment in a hospital, and 
he suffered from mental illness that a psychiatrist testified was prob-
ably related to premature arteriosclerosis. In late 1929, he converted 
a $10,000 check for his own use instead of giving it to the William L. 
Underwood estate for which he was co-trustee. As a result, in 1931, he 
was charged and pleaded guilty to larceny and was sentenced to eigh-
teen months in the Deer Island House of Correction. He was disbarred 
as a lawyer in 1934, and he died in 1936.41 In the midst of all this, in 
1934, Frank and Myra White’s son, Edward Peirce White (1905–1979), 
married Sylvia Whitaker (1911–2007). According to the Boston Globe:

Announcement is made of the recent marriage at 
Philadelphia of Sylvia H. Whitaker of that city to 
Edward P. White of Egypt, son of Mr and Mrs Frank 
O. White. He is connected with the Rockland Trust
Company. Mr and Mrs White will spend the Summer
at Sunnycroft, the White Summer estate at Egypt.42

Later Sunnycroft

Edward and Sylvia White made Sunnycroft their year-round 
home after the end of World War II. They added central heating, as 
well as a garage designed by Royal Barry Wills. They took twenty-
five feet of the house and had it moved across the street where it be-
came 95 Captain Peirce Road. They removed the old water tower by 
1946.43 Edward White prospered with Rockland Trust. He became its 
executive vice-president, running the company for fifteen years until 
becoming its president from 1962 to 1971. In 2018, the bank was in the 
process of becoming the largest independent retail bank based in the 
state.44

After Edward’s death in 1979, the Sunnycroft estate went on 
the market in 1989. It was sold in 1990. In 2017, the residence was 
again sold, along with about one and a half acres. The sellers retained 
the remaining acres and the seventeenth-century barn. The barn has 
been used by the seller since 2002 to produce fine furniture that reflects 
the designs and techniques of the Georgian and Federal periods.45

The 1990 sale marked the end of nearly a century of Silas 
Peirce descendants occupying Sunnycroft. However, a descendant of 
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the Peirce-Nichols-White families still lives next door. In 2009, the 
town corrected the sign for the road on which Sunnycroft is located 
to Captain Peirce Road (not Pierce). Sunnycroft remains there as a 
good example of an early twentieth-century summer estate of wealthy 
Bostonians, and a link to earlier generations of Peirces. Families who 
lived there contributed greatly to the business, cultural, educational, 
and social lives of both Boston and Scituate.46

Lyle Nyberg is an independent scholar and historian.
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Play: A History of Vacations in the United States (New York: Oxford 
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1917 was Henry Turner Bailey. Bailey was a notable Scituate na-
tive and resident, whose house “Trustworth” (1889) was about a 
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from Its First Settlement to 1831 (Boston: James Loring, 1831), 243,
accessed May 12, 2022, https://archive.org/details/historyofscituat-
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“Search Vital Records (1841–1910),” website of the Massachusetts
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Railroad: A Complete History of the Old Colony Railroad from 1844 
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Following is a partial genealogy of the Peirce-Nichols-White families.

• Hayward Peirce, Esq. (1753–1826), with sons including
Silas Peirce (1793–1879) and Elijah Peirce (1789–1848).

• Elijah Peirce (1789–1848), 1825 m. (2d wife) Lucy P.
(Nash) Litchfield (1793–1839), with children Silas Peirce
II (1826–1898), Elijah Foster Peirce (1827–1906), Sarah
Bailey Peirce (1829–1882), and Elizabeth Bourne Peirce
(1833–1876).
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• Silas Peirce II (1826–1898), 1852 m. Almira Hall (1827?–
1893?), with children Lucy (Peirce) Nichols (1853–1910),
Silas Peirce III (1860–1922), and Susan Hall (Peirce)
Bronson (1870?–after 1922) (who in 1894 m. Rev. Dillon
Bronson).

• Silas Peirce III (1860–1922), m. Annie Kendig, with chil-
dren Mrs. Richard F. (Peirce) Fuller, and Mrs. S. Theodore
(Peirce) Bittenbender.

• Lucy (Peirce) Nichols (1853–1910), 1874 m. Edward H.
Nichols (1843–1913), daughter Myra Hall (Nichols) White
(1877–1952).

• Myra Hall (Nichols) White (1877–1952), 1904 m. Frank
Owen White (c.1876–1936), with children Edward Peirce
White (1905–1979), Frank Owen White Jr. (d. 1979), and
Hayward P. White (d. 1981).

• Edward Peirce White (1905–1979); 1934 m. Sylvia H.
(Whitaker) (1911–2007), with children Edward P. White Jr.
(c.1935–2019), Elizabeth H. White (1938–1943), Lucy N.
(White) Dean, Prudence O. (White) Miller, George B. White.
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